#### AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

#### **OF THE**

### WISCONSIN PROFESSIONAL BASEBALL PARK DISTRICT

(Adopted as of May 17, 2024)

## ARTICLE I PURPOSE AND POWERS

The Wisconsin Professional Baseball Park District (the "District") is created as a special district authorized under Subchapter III of Chapter 229 of the Wisconsin Statutes (the "Act"), pursuant to which the legislature of the State of Wisconsin (the "State") has determined that such a district serves a statewide public purpose by assisting the development, construction, improvement, repair, and maintenance of baseball park facilities in the State for providing recreation, by encouraging economic development and tourism, by preserving business activities within the State, by generating additional tax revenues that would not exist without the baseball park facilities, by reducing unemployment and by bringing needed capital into the State for the benefit and welfare of people throughout the State. The jurisdiction is any county with a population of more than 750,000 that is the site of baseball park facilities that are home to a professional baseball team. The District's jurisdiction is fixed even if the population of the county decreases below 750,001 (the "Jurisdictional Area"). The District is a local governmental unit, that is a body corporate and politic and that is separate and distinct from and independent of the State of Wisconsin, the City Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, and all local governmental units falling within the Jurisdictional Area. The District shall have all of the powers set forth in the Act. As a governmental body, the District shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes and regulations promulgated thereunder, including, without limitation, the provisions of Chapter 19 of the Wisconsin Statutes, as they may relate to the District, its directors, officers and employees.

# ARTICLE II OFFICES

The District's principal office in the State of Wisconsin shall be located in the City of Milwaukee. The District may have such other offices, either within or without the City of Milwaukee, as the Board of Directors may designate from time to time.

## ARTICLE III BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#### 3.01 General Powers.

All business and affairs of the District shall be managed under the direction of, and all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, its Board of Directors.

#### 3.02 Number.

The number of directors of the District shall be thirteen (13) who shall be appointed as set forth in Section 229.66(2) of the Wisconsin Statutes, and as set forth in this Section 3.03.

## 3.03 Manner of Selection; Tenure.

The directors shall be individuals qualified and appointed as described below. Upon appointment, the appointing authorities shall certify the appointees to the Secretary of Administration of the State of Wisconsin.

- (a) Four (4) directors, including the Chairperson, appointed by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin, all of whom must be residents of the State of Wisconsin. A person appointed under this paragraph may take his or her seat immediately upon appointment and qualification. The term of office for the directors appointed under this Section 3.03(a) is four (4) years, except that the initial term of office for the initial chairperson appointee and one of the 3 other initial appointees, as designated by the Governor, is two (2) years.
- (b) One (1) director, who must be a resident of the State of Wisconsin, appointed by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin from a list containing the names of not fewer than three (3) persons provided by the chief executive officer of Milwaukee County, who shall serve at the pleasure of the Governor. A person appointed under this Section 3.03(b) may take his or her seat immediately upon appointment and qualification. The term of office for the director appointed under this Section 3.03(b) is four (4) years.
- (c) Three (3) directors appointed by the majority leader of the State senate, all of whom must be residents of the State of Wisconsin. The term of office for the directors appointed under this Section 3.03(c) is four (4) years, except that the initial term of office of one of the 3 initial appointees under this Section 3.03(c) is two (2) years, as designated by the majority leader of the State senate.
- (d) Three (3) directors appointed by the speaker of the State assembly, all of whom must be residents of the State of Wisconsin. The term of office for the directors appointed under this Section 3.03(d) is four (4) years, except that the initial term of office of one of the 3 initial appointees under this Section 3.03(d) is two (2) years, as designated by the speaker of the State assembly.
- (e) One (1) director, who must be a resident of the State of Wisconsin, appointed by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin from a list containing the names of not fewer than three (3) persons provided by the mayor of the City of Milwaukee, who shall serve at the pleasure of the Governor of the State of Wisconsin. A person appointed under this Section 3.03(e) may take his or her seat immediately upon appointment and qualification. The term of office for the director appointed under this Section 3.03(e) is four (4) years.
- (f) One (1) director, who must be a resident of the State of Wisconsin and who may not be an employee of the State or of a professional baseball team that leases baseball park

facilities constructed under Subchapter III of Chapter 229 of the Wisconsin Statutes, as its home facilities, appointed by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin from a list of not fewer than three (3) persons provided by the professional baseball team. A person appointed under this Section 3.03(f) may take his or her seat immediately upon appointment and qualification. The term of office for the director appointed under this Section 3.03(f) is four (4) years.

# 3.04 Annual Meeting and Regular Meetings.

The Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held on a date during the month of November of each year and at a time and place located within the Jurisdictional Area, as may be determined by the Chairperson or by resolution of the Board of Directors. The Chairperson or the District Board may, for good reason, fix any date other than in November for the Annual Meeting. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such times and places within the Jurisdictional Area fixed by the Board of Directors, pursuant to prior notice either by resolution adopted at the last meeting of Board of Directors or in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.07. Except in the case of exigent or emergency circumstances that make an in-person meeting of the Board of Directors impractical, all annual and regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be conducted in person.

# 3.05 Special Meetings.

Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the Chairperson or any two (2) directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board of Directors may fix the time and place, within the Jurisdictional Area, as the time and place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors called by them. If no place is fixed by the person calling the meeting, the place of the meeting shall be the District's principal office in the Jurisdictional Area. Except in the case of exigent or emergency circumstances that make an inperson meeting of the Board of Directors impractical, all special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be conducted in person.

## 3.06 Meetings by Electronic Means of Communication.

In the case of exigent or emergency circumstances that make an in-person meeting impracticable, and notwithstanding any place set forth in the notice of the meeting or these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may permit directors to participate in any meeting of the Board through the use of any means of communication by which any of the following occurs: (1) all participating directors may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting, and/or (2) all communication during the meeting is immediately transmitted to each participating director, and each participating director is able to immediately send messages to all other participating directors. Before the commencement of any business at a meeting at which one or more directors do not participate in person, all participating directors shall be informed that a meeting is taking place at which official business may be transacted. A director participating in a meeting by any means pursuant to this Section 3.06, shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting.

## 3.07 Notice; Waiver of Notice.

Notice of any regular or special meeting shall be given either personally or by written notice delivered personally or by U.S. mail or email to each director at his or her business address or email address, or at such other business address or email address as such director shall have designated in writing and filed at the District's principal office. Such notice shall be given at least five (5) days previous to a regular meeting and at least forty-eight (48) hours previous to a special meeting. Public notice of all meetings shall be given if and as required and provided in Chapter 19, Wisconsin Statues. If notice be given by U.S. mail, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the U.S. mail so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid. If notice be given by electronic mail, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when the sender receives a delivery receipt indicating that the transmission is complete. Whenever any notice is required to be given to any director of the District under the provisions of these Bylaws or under the provisions of any statute, a waiver thereof in writing, signed at any time, whether before or after the time of the meeting, by the director entitled to such notice, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. The attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a director attends a meeting and objects thereat to the transaction of the business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Except as otherwise required by law, neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.

## 3.08 Quorum.

Except as otherwise specified by law or these Bylaws, a majority of the number of directors then in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. If less than a quorum is present at a meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice.

A majority of the number of directors appointed to serve on a committee as authorized in Section 3.14 of these Bylaws shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any committee meeting. These provisions shall not, however, apply to the determination of a quorum for actions taken under any provisions of these Bylaws that fix different quorum requirements.

# 3.09 Manner of Acting.

(a) Except as otherwise specified by law or these Bylaws, the affirmative vote or approval of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present, shall be the act of the Board of Directors, or of a committee of the Board of Directors in the case of a committee meeting. This provision shall not, however, apply to any action taken by the Board of Directors in the event the affirmative vote of a greater number of directors is specified by law or any other provision of these Bylaws. The voting on all matters presented for a vote shall be by voice vote, unless required by law or a director requests a role call, in which case the Yeas and Neas shall be entered upon the minutes of the meeting. All resolutions of the Board of Directors shall be presented in writing or reduced to writing during or immediately following the meeting and shall be entered in full in the minutes of the meeting.

- (b) With respect to any of the following, a director appointed under Section 3.03(f) may not participate in any nonpublic meeting of the Board of Directors or vote: (i) approving or amending the lease specified in Section 229.6802(1), Wis. Stats.; (ii) approving or amending the non-relocation agreement specified in Section 229.6802(2), Wis. Stats.; (iii) approving or amending a lease or sublease other than specified under subitems (i) or (ii), above, between the District and the professional baseball team; (iv) the District obtaining or accepting a loan under Section 16.09(5), Wis. Stat.; (v) the District retaining a third-party negotiator under Section 229.6802(3), Wis. Stat.; or (vi) a dispute between the District and the professional baseball team.
- (c) The third-party negotiator required to represent the District in connection with negotiation of a lease and non-relocation agreement pursuant to Section 229.6802, Wis. Stats., must be approved by a two-thirds vote of all current members appointed to the Board of Directors and eligible to vote on the matter.
- (d) The District may not enter into or amend any lease or sublease that does not receive the affirmative vote of a majority of all current members appointed to the District Board and eligible to vote on the matter.
- (e) A loan under Wis. Stat. Section 16.09(5) must be approved by a majority vote of all current members appointed to the Board of Directors and eligible to vote on the matter.

# 3.10 Presumption of Assent.

A director of the District who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors thereof at which action on any District matter is taken is deemed to have assented to the action taken unless: (1) the director objects at the beginning of the meeting (or promptly upon the director's arrival) to holding it or transacting business at the meeting; or (2) the director dissents or abstains from the action taken and minutes of the meeting are prepared that show the director's dissent or abstention from the action; (3) the director dissents or abstains from an action taken, minutes of the meeting are prepared that fail to show the director's dissent or abstention from the action taken and the director delivers to the Secretary of the District a written notice of that failure after receiving the minutes; or (4) the director delivers written notice of his or her dissent or abstention to the presiding officer of the meeting before its adjournment or to the Secretary of the District immediately after adjournment of the meeting. The right of dissent or abstention is not available to a director who votes in favor of the action taken.

### 3.11 Conduct of Meetings.

The Chairperson, and in his or her absence the Vice-Chairperson, and in their absence, any director chosen by the directors then present, shall call meetings of the Board of Directors to order and shall act as chairperson of the meeting. The Secretary of the District shall act as secretary of all meetings of the Board of Directors, but in the absence of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any director or other person present to act as secretary of the meeting. Except as otherwise

provided or contemplated herein, at the request of the Chairperson or any two (2) directors present, a meeting shall be conducted by Robert's Rules of Order as revised from time to time.

#### 3.12 Removal.

Notwithstanding Section 17.07(3), Wis. Stats., directors appointed under Section 3.03 may be removed from the Board of Directors by the appointing authority at pleasure.

#### 3.13 Vacancies.

Vacancies for directors appointed under Section 3.03 shall be filled by the appointing authority who appointed the director whose office is vacant using the procedure provided under Section 3.03 for that position. A person appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term to which he or she is appointed.

#### 3.14 Committees.

The Board of Directors by these Bylaws or resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the number of directors then in office may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of members of the Board of Directors as described in these Bylaws or in such resolution, which to the extent provided in said resolution, as initially adopted, and as thereafter supplemented or amended by further resolution adopted by a like vote.

Any act by such committee within the authority delegated to it shall be effective for all purposes as the act of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall have the right to review any of the actions of any committee and such right of review shall include the right to modify any such action, provided that the Chairperson of the District Board or any two (2) directors not serving on such committee shall deliver notice to the committee chairperson within thirty (30) days of any action that such matter shall be reviewed. The Board of Directors itself may pass upon any action otherwise delegated to a committee prior to and without any committee action.

(a) Permanent Committees. Permanent Committees of the District Board shall consist of the Finance Committee, the Project Participation Committee and the Operations Committee. Each Permanent Committee shall consist of three (3) or more directors who shall have been appointed by the Chairperson of the District Board. A quorum of each Permanent Committee shall consist of at least 50% of the current Permanent Committee members. A majority of the number of directors then serving on a committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any committee meeting. The Chairperson of the District Board shall have the authority to remove any Permanent Committee member or chairperson with or without cause. Each Permanent Committee shall have a chairperson, who shall be appointed by the Chairperson of the District Board. The Chairperson of the District Board may appoint an acting chairperson for a committee in the absence of such chairperson, or, in the absence of direction from the Chairperson of the District Board, a chairperson of a committee shall be appointed in accordance with Section 3.11 of these Bylaws. Each Permanent Committee member and chairperson shall serve a one (1) year term or until his or her successor is appointed by the Chairperson of the District Board or until his or her removal by the Chairperson of the District Board or until such Committee member shall

resign. Each Permanent Committee shall be responsible to the Board of Directors. The delegation of authority to a Permanent Committee shall not operate to relieve the Board of Directors, or any member thereof, of any responsibility imposed upon the Board of Directors or a member thereof by law. Each committee shall fix its own rules governing the conduct of its activities and shall make such reports to the Board of Directors of such Committee's activities as the Board may request. Each Permanent Committee, to the extent provided in these Bylaws as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time, shall have and may exercise, when the Board of Directors is not in session, the powers of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the District, except action in respect of: (1) election of principal officers of the District; (2) adopting, amending, or repealing Bylaws; (3) in filling vacancies in committees created pursuant to this Section 3.14; and (4) any other matters not specifically delegated to such committee. A Permanent Committee may be discontinued only upon the affirmative vote of the majority of the directors then in office. Such Permanent Committees shall have the purposes, powers and authorities set forth below:

- (i) Finance Committee. The purpose of the Finance Committee shall be to monitor and administer all financial aspects of the District's operations and expenditures. The Finance Committee shall have the power and authority to perform such tasks as are consistent, or deemed necessary, to accomplish its stated purpose, including, without limitation, review receipts of the District, review and approve expenditures and disbursements by the District, review and provide conceptual approval of Segregated Reserve Fund projects, review and adopt such accounting and financial practices and procedures it deems appropriate, and any other matter deemed necessary or appropriate by the chairperson of such Committee.
- (ii) Project Participation Committee. The purpose of the Project Participation Committee shall be to establish goals, objectives, policies and procedures to ensure meaningful community participation in District operations. The Project Participation Committee shall have the power and authority to perform such tasks as are consistent, or deemed necessary, to accomplish this stated purpose and any other matter deemed necessary or appropriate by the chairperson of such Committee.
- (iii) Operations Committee. The purpose of the Operations Committee shall be to monitor and administer all operational aspects of the District's operations. The Operations Committee shall have the power and authority to perform such tasks as are consistent, or deemed necessary, to accomplish its stated purpose, including, without limitation, review, conceptual approval and final approval of Segregated Reserve Fund projects; review and recommendations concerning construction warranty work, repairs and replacement, including such matters in connection with the retractable roof; review and execution of construction, management, administration, engineering, architectural and design contracts; and review and approval of District staffing or service providers, and any other matter deemed necessary or appropriate by the chairperson of such Committee.
- (b) <u>Additional Committees</u>. The Board of Directors by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of the majority of the directors then in office may designate one or more Additional Committees and may thereafter discontinue any such Additional Committees. Each

such Additional Committee shall consist of three (3) or more directors who shall be appointed by the Chairperson unless otherwise provided for in the resolution creating the Additional Committee. Unless otherwise provided by the enabling resolution or herein, each Additional Committee shall have a chairperson. Each Additional Committee member shall serve a one (1) year term or until his or her successor is appointed by the Chairperson of the Board of Directors (or by the manner set forth in the enabling resolution) or until such Additional Committee Member shall resign. Each Additional Committee shall be responsible to the Board of Directors. The delegation of authority to an Additional Committee shall not operate to relieve the Board of Directors, or any member thereof, of any responsibility imposed upon the Board of Directors or a member thereof by law. Each Additional Committee shall fix its own rules governing the conduct of its activities and shall make such reports to the Board of Directors of such Committee's activities as the Board may request. Each Additional Committee, to the extent provided in the enabling resolution as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time by further resolution adopted by like vote, shall have and may exercise, when the Board of Directors is not in session, the powers of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the District, except action in respect of: (1) election of principal officers of the District; (2) adopting, amending, or repealing Bylaws; (3) in filling vacancies in committees created pursuant to this Section 3.14; and (4) other matters not specifically delegated to such committee. Unless otherwise provided in the enabling resolution, the Chairperson of the Board of Directors may appoint or the Board of Directors may elect one or more alternate members of any such Additional Committee who may take the place of any absent member or members at any meeting of such Additional Committee, upon request by the Chairperson or upon request of the chairperson of the Additional Committee.

(c) Except as otherwise specified by law or these Bylaws, meetings of Permanent Committees and Additional Committees may be conducted in person or by electronic means. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, Sections 3.04, 3.05, 3.06, 3.07, 3.08, 3.09, 3.10, and 3.11 of this Article III, which govern meetings, notice and waiver of notice, quorum and voting requirements of the District Board, apply to Permanent Committees and Additional Committees and their members.

### 3.15 Compensation; Expenses.

Directors shall receive no salaries for their services, but they shall be entitled to reimbursement for their actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties.

## 3.16 Effect of Resolutions.

- (a) <u>Severability</u>. Unless otherwise expressly provided, if any one or more of the provisions of any resolution of the Board of Directors should be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such provision or provisions shall be deemed and construed to be severable from the remaining provisions therein contained and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of such resolution.
- (b) <u>Headings</u>. Any heading preceding the texts of the several articles and sections of any resolution of the Board of Directors, and any table of contents or marginal notes appended

thereof, shall be solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of such resolutions, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.

- (c) <u>Effective Date</u>. Unless otherwise expressly provided, each resolution of Board of Directors shall take effect immediately upon its adoption in the manner provided by law.
- (d) <u>Priority</u>. Unless otherwise expressly provided, each resolution of the Board of Directors shall be deemed to rescind and repeal all prior resolutions, rules or other actions, or part thereof, of the Board of Directors in conflict with such subsequent resolution insofar (and only insofar) as such conflict exists. This provision shall not apply to conflicts between resolutions and Bylaws of the District.
- (e) <u>No Recourse Under Resolutions</u>. All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the District contained in any resolution of the Board of Directors shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the District and not of any member, officer, employee, or representative of the District in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse shall be had for any claim based on any resolution of the Board of Directors against any member, officer, employee, or representative of the District.
- (f) <u>District Complete</u>. The officers of the District, attorneys, agents or employees of the District shall be automatically authorized to do all acts and things required of them by any resolution of the District for the full, punctual and complete performance of all of the provisions of such resolution.

# ARTICLE IV OFFICERS

## 4.01 Designation.

The principal officers of the District shall be a Chairperson, a Vice Chairperson, a Secretary and a Treasurer. Such other officers and assistant officers as may be deemed necessary may be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors. Any two or more offices may be held simultaneously by the same person.

### 4.02 Election and Term of Office.

The Chairperson shall be selected by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin. The Vice Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer (the "Elected Officers") shall be elected by the Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting of the Directors. Elected Officers must be current directors of the District Board. If the election of such officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as conveniently may be held. Each officer (other than the Chairperson) shall hold office for a term of one (1) year, commencing on the day of his or her election, or until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and shall have qualified, or until his or her death or resignation or until he or she shall have been removed from office in the manner hereinafter provided. Appointment of an officer or agent shall not of itself create contract rights.

#### 4.03 Removal.

Except for the Chairperson, which shall be selected by the Governor of the State of Wisconsin, any officer or agent elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the District's best interests will be served thereby.

#### 4.04 Vacancies.

A vacancy in any principal office other than Chairperson, because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or otherwise, shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

## 4.05 Chairperson.

The Chairperson shall be the District's principal executive officer and, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the District. The Chairperson shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. The Chairperson shall have authority, either alone or with any other officer, to sign, execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the District, all deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts and other documents or instruments which are necessary or proper in the regular course of the Districts business, or which may be authorized by the Board of Directors, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by the Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the District, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed. The Chairperson shall in general perform all duties incidental to the office of the Chairperson and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time. The Chairperson shall be an ex-officio member of all the District's committees, but shall not be counted toward a quorum or toward the total number of committee members present at a meeting. In the absence of actual knowledge by third parties to the contrary, the execution of any instrument of the District by the Chairperson shall be conclusive evidence, as to such third parties, of his or her authority to execute the instrument on behalf of the District.

### 4.06 Vice Chairperson.

In the absence of the Chairperson or in the event of the Chairperson's death or inability or refusal to act as directed by the Board of Directors, the Vice Chairperson shall perform the duties of the Chairperson, and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chairperson. The Vice Chairperson may sign, with the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, bonds or notes of the District and shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the Chairperson and/or by the Board of Directors. In the absence of actual knowledge by third parties to the contrary, the execution of any instrument of the District by the Vice Chairperson shall be conclusive evidence, as to such third parties, of his or her authority to act in the stead of the Chairperson.

## 4.07 The Secretary.

The Secretary shall: (a) keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; (b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; (c) be custodian of the District's records and see that books, reports, statements, certificates and all other documents and records required by law are properly kept and filed; (d) keep a register of the post office address of director and each officer, which shall be furnished to the Secretary by each such person; (e) sign with the Chairperson and/or a Vice Chairperson, bonds, notes, agreements, deeds, instruments, certificates and other documents of the District which shall have been authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; and (f) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the Chairperson and/or by the Board of Directors.

### 4.08 The Treasurer.

The Treasurer shall: (a) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all of the District's funds and securities; (b) receive and give receipts for money due and payable to the District from any source whatsoever, and deposit all funds of the District in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws; and (c) in general perform all of the duties incidental to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the Chairperson and/or by the Board of Directors. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of his or her duties in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine.

### 4.09 Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers.

The Board of Directors may authorize one or more Assistant Secretaries and/or Assistant Treasurers from time to time. Any such Assistant Secretary may sign with the Chairperson or Vice Chairperson debt securities of the District, the issuance of which shall have been authorized by a resolution of the Board of Directors. The Assistant Treasurers, if required by the Board of Directors, shall give bonds for the faithful discharge of their duties in such sums and with such sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers, in general, shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to them by the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, or by the Chairperson or the Board of Directors.

### 4.10 Other Personnel.

The Chairperson may, from time to time, appoint and employ such personnel as may be deemed necessary to exercise the powers, duties and function of the District. The qualifications, duties and numbers of such personnel shall be consistent with the policies determined by the Board of Directors.

#### 4.11 Salaries.

Officers shall receive no salaries for their services, but they shall be entitled to reimbursement for their actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties.

# ARTICLE V CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS AND DEPOSITS

#### 5.01 Contracts.

The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or to execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the District, and such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.

#### **5.02** Loans.

No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the District and no evidences of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by law and under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors eligible to vote on the matter. Such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.

## 5.03 Checks, Drafts, Etc.

All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the District, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, of the District and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by these Bylaws or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors.

# 5.04 Deposits.

All funds of the District not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the District in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as may be selected by or under the authority of the Board of Directors in accordance with applicable law.

## 5.05 Regulations with Respect to Evidence of Indebtedness.

The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make all such rules and regulations not inconsistent with the statutes of the State of Wisconsin as it may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration of evidence of indebtedness of the District.

# ARTICLE VI INDEMNIFICATION

### 6.01 Definitions.

The following terms used in this Article VI shall have the indicated meanings:

(a) "Director" or "officer" means an individual who is or was a director or officer of the District and includes the estate or personal representatives of a director or officer.

- (b) "Expenses" include all fees, costs, charges, attorneys' counsel fees and other expenses and disbursements incurred in connection with a proceeding.
- (c) "Liability" includes the obligation to pay a judgment, settlement, penalty, fine, assessment or forfeiture, including an excise tax assessed with respect to or on an employee benefit plan, and reasonable expenses.
- (d) "Party" includes an individual who was or is, or who is threatened to be made, or is at risk of becoming, a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding.
- (e) "Proceeding" means any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, claim, litigation, appeal, arbitration or other proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, formal or informal, predicated on foreign, federal, state or local law, brought by or in the right of the District or by any other person or by any governmental or administrative body.

# 6.02 Mandatory Indemnification.

- (a) <u>Successful on the Merits</u>. The District shall indemnify a director or officer of the District to the extent he or she has been successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of a proceeding, for all reasonable expenses incurred in the proceeding, if the director or officer was a party because he or she is or was at the time of the events upon which the proceeding was based a director or officer of the District. A director or officer shall exercise his or her right to indemnification under this Section 6.02 by delivering a written demand for indemnification to the District's Treasurer, or the Chairperson if the party seeking indemnification is the Treasurer.
- (b) Good Faith. In all cases not included in Section 6.02, the District shall indemnify a director or officer against liability incurred by the director or officer in a proceeding to which the director or officer was a party because he or she is or was at the time of the events upon which the proceeding was based a director or officer of the District, provided that there is a determination that the director or officer acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the District and provided that such act or omission by the director does not constitute a violation of the criminal law, unless the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Whether a director or officer of the District shall be entitled to indemnification under this Section 6.02(b) shall be determined in accordance with the procedures established in Section 6.03.
- (c) <u>No Presumption</u>. The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement or conviction, or upon a plea of no contest or an equivalent plea, does not, by itself, create a presumption that indemnification of the director or officer is not required under this subsection.

# 6.03 Determination of Right to Indemnification.

A director or officer seeking indemnification under this Article VI shall first make a written request to the District's Treasurer, or the District's Chairperson if the person seeking indemnification

is the Treasurer, for such indemnification. Determination of whether indemnification is required shall be made by one of the following means:

- (a) By a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors consisting of directors who are not at the time parties to the same or related proceedings with respect to which the indemnification claim has been made. If such quorum of disinterested directors cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of a committee duly appointed by the Board of Directors and consisting solely of three (3) or more directors who are not at the time parties to the same or related proceedings. Directors who are parties to the same or related proceedings may participate in the designation of members of the committee.
- (b) By independent legal counsel selected by a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors or its committee consisting of directors who are not at the time parties to the same or related proceedings or, if such a quorum cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of the full Board of Directors, including directors who are parties to the same or related proceedings.
- (c) By a panel of three (3) arbitrators consisting of one (1) arbitrator selected by those directors entitled under subsection (b) above to select independent legal counsel, one (1) arbitrator selected by the director or officer seeking indemnification and one (1) arbitrator selected by the other two (2) arbitrators.
- (d) By a court of competent jurisdiction upon application by the director or officer for an initial determination of entitlement to indemnification or for review by the court of an adverse determination. Indemnification shall be ordered if the court determines that the director or officer is entitled to indemnification under Section 6.02 or that the director or officer is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification in view of all the relevant circumstances. If the director of officer is successful in obtaining indemnification by order of the court, in addition to indemnification against all other expenses and liability, the director or officer shall be reimbursed for expenses reasonably incurred in pursuing his or her request for indemnification.

The director or officer of the District seeking indemnification shall designate in his or her request for indemnification the method of making the indemnification determination.

## 6.04 Advance of Expenses as Incurred.

The District shall, upon written request by the director or officer, pay for or reimburse the reasonable expenses incurred by a director or officer who is a party to a proceeding, as those expenses are incurred, if the director or officer furnishes the District a written affirmation of his or her good faith belief that he or she has not breached his or her duties to the District, and the director or officer furnishes the District with a written undertaking, executed personally or on his or her behalf, to repay the allowance to the extent that it is ultimately determined that the indemnification is not required. The District may accept the undertaking without reference to his or her ability to repay the allowance, and the undertaking may be secured or unsecured.

#### 6.04 Insurance.

The District may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of its directors and officers, or to reimburse itself, against liability asserted or incurred and expenses incurred by the director or officer in connection with a proceeding brought against the director or officer in his or her capacity as a director or officer or arising from his or her status as a director or officer, regardless of whether the District is required or authorized to indemnify the individual against the same liability pursuant to the provisions hereof.

# 6.05 Savings Clause.

To the extent any court of competent jurisdiction shall determine that the indemnification provided under this Article VI shall be invalid as applied to a particular claim, issue or matter, the provisions hereof shall be deemed amended to allow and require indemnification to the maximum extent permitted by law.

## 6.06. Other Rights.

The indemnification provided by this Article VI shall not be deemed exclusive of any other indemnity which the Board of Directors, or this District, may lawfully grant or any other rights to which any Director, officer, employee, or agent may be entitled, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, and administrators of such a person.

### 6.07 Deemed Contract.

This Article VI shall be deemed to be a contract between the District and each previous, current or future director or officer. The provisions of this Article VI shall apply to all proceedings commenced after the date hereof, whether rising from any action taken or failure to act before or after such adoption. No amendment, modification or repeal of this Article VI shall diminish the rights provided hereby or diminish the right to indemnification with respect to any claim, issue or matter in any then pending or subsequent proceeding that is based in any material respect on any alleged action or failure to act prior to such amendment, modification or repeal.

# ARTICLE VII AMENDMENTS

## 7.01 Express Amendments.

The Board of Directors may from time to time, by vote of a majority of the directors then in office, alter, amend or repeal any and all of the Bylaws of this District.

### 7.02 Implied Amendments.

Any action taken or authorized by the Board of Directors which would be inconsistent with the Bylaws then in effect, but which is taken or authorized by affirmative vote of not less than the number of directors required to amend the Bylaws so that the Bylaws would be consistent with such action, shall be given the same effect as though the Bylaws had been temporarily amended or suspended as far, but only as far, as is necessary to permit the specific action so taken or authorized.

# ARTICLE VIII SEAL

The Board of Directors may by resolution, but shall not be required to, adopt a seal for the District.

# ARTICLE IX CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

In addition to the requirements of Section 19.59, Wisconsin Statutes, Codes of Ethics for Local Government Officials, Employees, and Candidates, any director who believes he or she has or may have a conflict of interest shall disclose such interest to the Board of Directors and recuse themselves from all matters (i) that substantially affect a matter in which the director, a member of his or her immediate family, or an organization with which the director is associated has a substantial financial interest, or (ii) that produce or assist in the production of a substantial benefit, direct or indirect, for themselves, one or more members of immediate family, or an organization with which they are associated. Directors associated with an organization or entity with whom the District is contracting, or proposing to contract with, shall disclose such association to the Board of Directors and recuse themselves from all contract matters involving such organization or entity if the director's participation could result, either directly or indirectly, in a benefit to such organization or entity.